



American Nursing Informatics Association

where Caring & Technology meet

These Bylaws were approved in accordance with the law and the procedures set forth herein on February 2013.

American Nursing Informatics Association BYLAWS

(Updated December 2, 2025)

Article I. Name

The name of the organization shall be the American Nursing Informatics Association, a Virginia nonstock corporation (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "ANIA" or "the association").

Article II. Offices

The principal office of the American Nursing Informatics Association (ANIA) shall be located within or without the Commonwealth of Virginia at such location as the Board of Directors (BOD) shall, from time to time designate. ANIA may maintain additional offices at other locations as the BOD may designate. ANIA shall continuously maintain within the Commonwealth of Virginia a registered office at an address designated by the BOD.

Article III. Purpose

To advance nursing informatics through education, research, and practice in all roles and settings. ANIA is organized to operate as a professional organization within the meaning of Section 501(c) (6) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Article IV. Membership

ANIA shall have seven (7) classes of members: Regular (Full), Associate, Senior, Student, Honorary, Lifetime, and Corporate/Education. The designation of the classes and the qualifications and rights of the members of the classes shall be as follows:

Classes of Membership

- (a) Regular (Full) Members

Any licensed registered nurse interested in informatics nursing is eligible for regular (full) membership. Regular (full) members may vote and hold an elected office.

(b) Associate Members

Any health care professional interested in informatics nursing. Associate members shall have all the privileges of members of ANIA except holding National office, serving as chairpersons of standing committees, or serving on committees limited to regular (full) members.

(c) Senior Members

Regular (full) members over the age of 65 are eligible to become senior members. Regular (full) membership privileges apply, but reduced dues are assessed. Associate members over the age of 65 are eligible to become senior associate members. Associate membership privileges apply but reduced dues are assessed.

(d) Student Members

Any student enrolled in a nursing or healthcare-related program who is interested in informatics nursing is eligible for student membership. Student members shall have all of the privileges of members of ANIA except those of voting, holding National office, serving as chairpersons of standing committees or serving on committees limited to regular (full) members. Reduced dues are assessed.

(e) Honorary Members

May be extended by a majority vote of the BOD to individuals who have rendered distinguished service and leadership to ANIA or who have made outstanding contributions to the field of nursing informatics. These members shall have all of the privileges of regular (full) members of ANIA. and shall pay no dues. This is a lifetime honorarium.

(f) Lifetime Members

All past presidents who served a full term of office and other regular (full) members designated by the BOD are granted lifetime membership without dues. Lifetime members may vote and hold an elected office per the specified term conditions. Lifetime members will receive a complimentary conference registration.

(g) Corporate/Education Members

Any corporation or educational institution interested in the purposes of ANIA may, upon invitation and presentation of financial contribution, become a Corporate/Education member. Each Corporate/Education member is granted a certain number of individual memberships. Persons using these memberships must complete a membership application and will become either regular (full) or associate members based on their application and eligibility.

Establishment of Membership

Membership in the ANIA shall become effective when a completed application has been accepted and the dues have been received.

Termination of Membership

(a) Resignation

A member may resign at any time by filing a written resignation to ANIA. No refund of dues will be issued.

(b) Nonpayment of Dues

Membership shall be terminated for nonpayment of dues.

(c) Action of the Board

The BOD may suspend or expel a member for cause after proper notice and an opportunity to be heard by the BOD. This requires an affirmative vote of the majority of the BOD. "Cause" shall exist if the member is declared of unsound mind by an order of the court, or indicted for a felony, or for other reasons found to be against ANIA's best interests as determined by the BOD.

Reinstatement of Membership

Upon written request signed by a former member and filed with the secretary, the Board members may, by the affirmative vote of the majority of the Board members, reinstate the former member to membership upon such terms as the Board members may deem appropriate.

Transfer of Membership

Membership in ANIA is not transferable or assignable.

Article V. Meeting of the Members

Annual Meeting

A meeting of the members shall be held annually. The date, the time, and the site will be designated by the BOD for the purpose of updating the membership on the business of ANIA. The meeting will be open to all members. The regular annual meeting of the BOD shall normally be held in conjunction with the annual conference without other notice than this bylaw. At the BOD's discretion, the annual meeting may be held by teleconference, video conference, or other means of electronic communication by which the members participating can hear each other. The BOD shall hold additional member meetings at its discretion.

Place of Meeting

The BOD may designate any place as the place of meeting inside or outside for the annual meeting or for any special meeting called by the BOD. The annual meeting shall be held at the location of the national conference unless otherwise specified by the BOD.

Special Meetings

Special meetings of the members may be called by the president, a majority of the board members, or upon written or electronic transmission request of 1/8 of the regular members.

Notice of Meetings

Notice will be provided by posting on the website and delivered via electronic mail (email) or other types of electronic transmissions at least 30 days prior to the meeting.

Quorum

At any meeting of members, a quorum will consist of a majority of members present who have voting privileges.

Informal Action by Members

Any action required by law to be taken at a meeting of the members, or any action which may be taken at a meeting of members, may be taken without a meeting if the majority of voting members agree with

respect to the subject matter of the action.

Article VI. The Board of Directors

Board members include all elected directors of the organization. The officers of the organization shall consist of the president, president-elect, secretary, and treasurer.

Functions and Powers

The BOD shall oversee the control and administration of the affairs of the association to meet the purposes of ANIA including, but not limited to, development and oversight of the execution of the strategic plan, budget and finances, ability to authorize policies, audits, programs, publications, awards, recognition, and collaboration with other organizations. All BOD members shall represent the organization and perform other duties as needed.

Composition of the Board

The affairs of ANIA shall be managed by its nine (9) member BOD. The BOD shall be composed of nine (9) members as follows: four (4) directors serve as the president, the president-elect, the secretary, and the treasurer are collectively referred to herein as the "officers", and five (5) directors (4 regional directors and the education director). The officers and directors are collectively referred to herein as BOD. In addition, (i) the immediate past president (IPP) shall serve as an ex officio, non-voting member of the BOD for a period of one (1) year after the term as president. Each Board member shall be elected for a term of three (3) years. The BOD shall have staggered terms.

Term Limits

President, president-elect and the IPP will serve a one (1), one (1) year term. All other directors may serve for two (2) consecutive three (3) year terms if so elected. After two (2) consecutive terms, a director will be replaced by a duly elected board member. The former director and the IPP must each wait one (1) year after the end of their term before they can be nominated to run again for an open position on the BOD. Exceptions to the term limits can be made at the discretion of the board of directors on a case-by-case basis to maintain organizational effectiveness.

Officers

(a) President

The president shall serve as the principal executive officer and generally oversee all the business and affairs of ANIA. They shall preside over all meetings of the members and the board of directors unless they are unable to attend. The president may sign, along with the secretary or any other authorized officer of ANIA designated by the board of directors, any deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments that the board has approved for execution, except where such signing and execution are expressly delegated by the board, these bylaws, or by law to another officer or agent of ANIA. In general, the president shall perform all duties associated with the office and any additional duties assigned by the board of directors. The president shall also be an ex-officio member of all committees except the leadership succession committee.

(b) President-Elect

The president-elect shall primarily focus on the role and responsibilities of the president. The president-elect shall also perform any other duties assigned by the president or the board. In the absence of the president or if the president is unable or refuses to act, the president-elect shall serve as acting

president and shall have all the powers and responsibilities of the president while doing so.

(c) Treasurer

Provides oversight and reporting of ANIA's financial status. The treasurer shall have charge of, custody of, and be responsible for all funds and securities of the association; receive and give receipts for money due and payable to ANIA from any source; and deposit all such money in the name of ANIA in banks, trust companies, or other depositories as selected in accordance with these bylaws. The treasurer generally performs all duties related to the office and any additional duties assigned by the president or the BOD.

(d) Secretary

Shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the members and of the BOD; see that all notices are given in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws or as required by law; document decisions made during meetings; and in general, perform all duties of the secretary and such other duties as needed.

Directors and Advisors

(a) Directors

All Directors shall assist the officers, represent the organization, and perform other duties assigned by the President or the BOD.

(b) Immediate Past President

The IPP serves in a one-year advisory, non-voting role to the BOD. The IPP serves as the chair of the leadership succession committee. The IPP can attend the annual in-person retreat virtually and will not be required to travel with the board of directors to the annual in-person planning retreat.

(c) Compensation

Directors, as such, shall not receive any stated salaries for their services, but by resolution of the BOD members, a nominal fixed sum and expenses of attendance, if any, may be allowed for attendance at each regular or special meetings of the BOD.

Board of Directors Meetings and Procedures

(a) Board Meetings

Board meetings shall be held regularly throughout the year. The Directors may provide by resolution the time and place for the holding of additional regular meetings of the board without other notice than the resolution.

(b) Special Meetings

Special meetings of the BOD may be called by or at the request of the President or any two Directors.

(c) Notice

Notice of any special meeting of the BOD shall be given notice prior to the meeting in written or printed format, delivered in person, via email, or other electronic transmission.

(d) Quorum

The act of a majority of directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the BOD unless the act of a greater number is required by law or by these bylaws. A simple majority (51% or greater) of the directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the BOD. If less than a quorum of the directors is present at the meeting, the directors present may adjourn the meeting without further notice and reschedule as necessary to complete

business.

(e) Participation by Technology

Directors may participate in a BOD meeting via means of communication by which all members participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting. A director participating in a meeting by this means is deemed to be present in person at the meeting. Using a tool that includes a video feed along with audio is preferred.

Parliamentary Authority

Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised, shall govern the conduct of business by ANIA in all cases in which they are applicable and not in conflict with the constitution, bylaws, policies, special rules, or standing rules of ANIA.

Informal Action by Directors

Any action required by law to be taken at a meeting of the directors, or any action which may be taken at a meeting of the directors, may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting out the action so taken, shall be signed by a quorum of the BOD. Directors may signify their consent by email or other electronic transmissions.

Vacancies

Any vacancy occurring in the BOD shall be filled by a majority vote of the remaining BOD members. A director elected by the BOD to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in the office with all rights and responsibilities of the role.

(a) Forfeiture of and Removal from Office

Any member of the BOD shall automatically forfeit their board position if they lose eligibility for or are expelled from membership in ANIA. Any member of the BOD may also be removed for "cause" by a 2/3rds vote of the board after proper notice and an opportunity to be heard at a meeting of the BOD held prior to the vote. The board member will receive documentation of the complaint at a minimum of 24 hours before they are asked to discuss it with the board. "Cause" shall exist if the board member is declared of unsound mind by an order of the court, or indicted for a felony, or for other reasons found to be against ANIA's best interests by the BOD. The decision by the BOD to allow a member that has been removed from office to be nominated and run again for the board will be determined on a case-by-case basis.

(b) Resignation

Except as otherwise required by law, a director may resign from the BOD at any time by giving notice in writing to the BOD. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, no acceptance of such resignation shall be necessary to make it effective.

(c) Officer Vacancies

If the position of president should become vacant; it will be filled by the president-elect, who will remain president until the end of the vacated and appointed term. Any qualified board member shall indicate interest in the president-elect, secretary, or treasurer role to the current president in the event of a vacancy in one of those officer positions. The candidates will be ratified by a secret ballot simple majority vote of the board.

(d) Absence/Abandonment

Each board member is expected to communicate with the board in advance of all board meetings if she/he is unable to attend or participate by conference telephone or other agreed-upon means of communication or if life circumstances are interfering with his/her ability to fulfill the obligations of her/his role. If a board member is absent from two (2) successive BOD meetings without notice or fails to fulfill assigned responsibilities, per policy, for a 30-day period, the board may vote on whether the absent member shall be deemed to have resigned due to non-participation. If the majority of the board votes that the absent member has resigned due to non-participation, the absent member will be notified by both email and certified letter of the BOD's decision.

Property of ANIA

It shall be the duty of every member of the board to turn over to their successor, upon retirement from office, all property of ANIA that is within their possession, custody, or control.

Voting

Each board member shall have one vote except for the IPP. All voting at meetings shall be done in person (including virtual). No proxy shall be allowed.

Article VII. Documents and Records

ANIA shall keep correct and complete documents and records of account and shall also keep minutes of the proceedings of its membership and BOD meetings and a record giving the names and addresses of the members entitled to vote. All documents will be stored in a secure location, either electronically or in hard copies, which will be stored at its national office. All documents and records of ANIA, with the exception of minutes of officer sessions or meetings discussing removal from office or membership, may be inspected by any member upon written request. Electronic documents on the ANIA shared server or at the management company site are the preferred formats.

Article VIII. Committees and Task Forces

Committees and Task Forces

Committees and task forces (ad hoc committees) shall be appointed by a majority vote of the BOD. The term of office for members shall be two years, with the option to extend for two more years. The appointment of any such committee and task force shall not operate to relieve any members of the BOD of any responsibility imposed upon it by law. A call for open committee positions will be posted each November, as necessary.

Quorum

Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the board members designating a committee and task force, a majority of the whole committee shall constitute a quorum, and the act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee and task force.

Rules

Each committee shall adopt rules of its own governance that are consistent with the bylaws or with rules adopted by the board members.

Limitation on Powers

No committee and task force will have the authority of the BOD in reference to amending, altering, or repealing the bylaws; electing, appointing, or removing any member of any such committee or task force or any director or officer of ANIA; amending the articles of incorporation; adopting a plan or merger or adopting a plan of consolidation with another corporation; authorizing the sale, lease, exchange or mortgage of all or substantially all of the property and assets of ANIA; authorizing the voluntary dissolution of ANIA or revoking proceedings therefore; adopting a plan for the distribution of the assets of ANIA; amending, altering or repealing any resolution of the board members; or any other action delegated by the bylaws, the articles of incorporation, or law to another person or entity.

Appointment

The president, with the approval of the BOD, shall appoint chairpersons to all committees and task forces and other such committees and task forces as deemed necessary, except as otherwise provided by these bylaws. The BOD shall define the functions of such committees. With the approval of the BOD, the president shall appoint a member of the BOD to serve as a board liaison to each committee and task force. The president will be an ex officio member of the committees and task forces, except the leadership succession committee (LSC). The president, in consultation with the BOD, fills a vacancy by appointment. All committees and task forces shall submit reports as directed by the BOD.

Appointment of Chair and Term of Appointment

Must be a committee member for at least one year to serve as chair/co-chair. A Call for a Committee Intent to Chair is sent to the committee by BOD to identify volunteers; the BOD will have final approval of chair appointments. The term of the chair is two years (see absence/abandonment section) A committee chair may be re-appointed to an additional two-year term if willing to serve and the expectations of the Board were met by the volunteer during recent term as chair.

Required Committees

(a) Leadership Succession Committee

The LSC shall develop members in organizational leadership roles across the span of their careers and mentor members to assume organizational board positions at all levels of the organization. The LSC shall consist of a minimum of three (3) elected members with a preferred five (5) elected members. The IPP will serve as the chair of the LSC.

LSC members may serve two (2) consecutive two (2) year terms. Terms of office are staggered, so all LSC members do not end their terms at the same time. Exceptions to the term limits and break in service can be made at the discretion of the BOD on a case-by-case basis to keep an effective organization.

Abandonment of committee: If a member of the LSC fails to fulfill assigned responsibilities for a 30-day period, the majority of the board may vote on whether the absent member shall be deemed to have resigned due to non-participation.

(b) Education Committee

The education committee responds to the direction of the BOD. The education director functions as the liaison between the board and the committee. The committee supports ANIA's mission, strategic plan, and goals related to nursing informatics education and evidence-based practice (EBP). A chairperson leads the committee. The education committee upholds the following functions:

- Evaluation of current educational activities and usefulness

- Recommendations of educational activities and initiatives for BOD consideration
- Assessment of current literature to inform and maintain educational programs and projects
- Exploration and development of new educational programs and/or products in response to membership needs or board requests
- Other duties as assigned by the BOD

(c) Research and Evidence-Based Practice Committee

The research and EBP committee focuses on the advancement of research and EBP in nursing informatics by fostering interaction, discussion, and collaboration among members and groups involved or interested in NI research and EBP activities. The educator director functions as the liaison between the board and the committee. Selected responsibilities of the committee include:

- Review of research/EBP project applications submitted to ANIA
- Lead/participate in ANIA's major research and EBP projects
- Other duties as assigned by the BOD

(d) Social Media Committee.

The Social Media Committee supports ANIA's mission by fostering engagement, collaboration, and communication among members and the broader healthcare informatics community through effective use of social media platforms. The communications director functions as the liaison between the board and the committee. Selected responsibilities of the committee include:

- Developing and implementing a strategic social media plan to promote ANIA's initiatives, events, and resources.
- Creating and curating engaging, high-quality content to share across ANIA's official social media channels.
- Monitoring and responding to interactions on social media platforms to enhance member engagement and outreach.
- Collaborating with other ANIA committees to promote research, education, and professional development activities.
- Analyzing social media performance metrics and providing regular reports to the board to guide future strategies.
- Other duties as assigned by the BOD.

Article IX. Nominations and Elections

Elections for the BOD will be held annually. National board members may not concurrently hold a voting chapter board role.

Election Oversight

The (LSC) shall direct the election process through the ANIA management company. The committee shall vet the candidates to prepare a recommended ballot. The recommended ballot will be sent to the BOD at least four (4) weeks prior to a scheduled election for final approval.

Nominations for Directors and Leadership Succession Committee positions

- (a) A call for nomination for director position(s) and LSC positions for the upcoming year shall be published and distributed to all members of ANIA at least 60 days before the

scheduled date of the election.

- (b) All candidates for director position(s) must be regular members in good standing of ANIA for at least two (2) successive years prior to their nomination.
- (c) All candidates for LSC positions must be members in good standing of ANIA for at least one (1) year prior to their nomination.
- (d) After receiving nominations from the membership, the LSC shall prepare a list of qualified candidates for the director and LSC member positions for board approval.

Notice of Elections

A notice stating the position(s) and date of the election shall be delivered not less than 45 days nor more than 90 days before the date of the election to each member of ANIA entitled to vote in such election.

Voting

An election may be conducted electronically in the manner that the BOD shall determine in accordance with the law.

Elections

All BOD positions are elected by the membership of ANIA or appointed by the BOD in the case of a vacant director position. The president-elect is elected from the existing BOD members by a simple majority vote by the BOD.

- (a) Current board members interested in running for the president-elect position must submit a written notification of their interest and objectives of their candidacy to ANIA's management company representative no later than 14 days prior to the board meeting at which officers will be elected.
- (b) President and president-elect positions will be filled by board members with a recommended two years of service on the board but a minimum of one year of service.
- (c) If a board member is appointed to the president or president-elect position in their last year of service, it is with the understanding that, if elected, their term of office is automatically extended to complete their term as president and IPP.
- (d) If, after a call for nominations is made to all members, there is only one (1) candidate for a BOD position (uncontested), those candidates may then be declared the winners.
- (e) The ballot listing the candidates for the officer positions shall be electronically sent to the BOD at least seven (7) days prior to the election BOD meeting. Board members will send their votes to the management company representative who will then inform the president of the results. The candidates receiving the highest number of votes in their respective races shall be elected.

Leadership Succession Committee Elections:

- (a) If, after a call for nominations is made to all members, there is only one (1) candidate for the LSC (uncontested), those candidates may then be declared the winners.
- (b) The IPP, in consultation with the BOD, fills a vacancy by appointment.

Article X. Management Company

The BOD, at its sole discretion, may contract with an association management company for the purpose of carrying out the day-to-day activities of the organization. The scope of responsibilities of the management company shall be governed by the contractual agreement between the two parties.

Article XI. Whistleblower Policy

ANIA is committed to operating in furtherance of its tax-exempt purposes and in compliance with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations and prohibits fraudulent practices by any of its board members, employees, or members. This policy outlines a procedure for employees, members, and others to report actions that a person reasonably believes violates a law or regulation or that constitutes fraudulent accounting or other practices. This policy applies to any matter which is related to ANIA's business and does not relate to the private acts of an individual not connected to the business or activities of ANIA.

Reporting Procedure

If an employee, board member, member, or other person has a reasonable belief that an employee, officer, board member, or member of ANIA has engaged in any action that violates any applicable law or regulation or constitutes a fraudulent practice related to ANIA's business, the person with knowledge of the violation is expected to immediately report it to ANIA's president. If the person does not feel comfortable reporting the information to the president, he/she is expected to report the information to any other officer.

Investigation

All reports will be followed up promptly by the president or the officers, and an investigation will be conducted. In conducting its investigations, ANIA will strive to keep the identity of the complaining individual as confidential as possible while conducting an adequate review and investigation.

No Retaliation

ANIA will not retaliate, nor permit retaliation or any other harmful action, against a reporting person because that person: (a) reports to a supervisor, to the president, another officer, the BOD, or to a federal, state, or local agency what the person believes in good faith to be a violation of the law; or (b) participates in good faith in any resulting investigation or proceeding, or (c) exercises his/her rights under any state or federal law(s) or regulation(s) to pursue a claim or take legal action to protect his/her rights. ANIA may take disciplinary action, including termination in case of an employee, against anyone who, in the BOD's assessment, has engaged in retaliatory conduct in violation of this policy.

Article XII. Conflict of Interest

The BOD shall administer the association's affairs honestly and economically and exercise their best care, skill, and judgment for the benefit of ANIA. All members of the BOD shall exercise the utmost good faith in all transactions relating to their duties for ANIA.

They shall not use their position or knowledge gained there from so that a conflict might arise between ANIA's interests and that of the individual. All acts of the BOD shall be for the benefit of ANIA in any matter. The board members shall not accept any favor that might adversely or improperly influence their actions affecting ANIA or its members.

Disclosure of Conflict of Interest

Each board member and nominee for a BOD position shall make a written disclosure of any interest that might result in a conflict of interest upon nomination to office, before appointment to fill a vacancy in office, and annually during the term of office. During their terms of office, board members shall promptly make full disclosure to the president of any existing or new employment, activity, investment, or other interest that might involve a conflict of interest.

Definition of Conflict of Interest

A conflict of interest exists if a member of the board or nominee for a board position or committee member has a financial, personal, or official interest in any matter relating to ANIA, of such nature that it prevents or may prevent that member from acting on the matter in a disinterested manner. Any member of the BOD or committee member with such a conflict of interest will offer to the BOD to voluntarily excuse himself/herself and will vacate his or her seat and refrain from discussion and voting on said item. A transaction involving a conflict of interest must thereafter be approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested directors on the BOD.

Resolution of Conflict of Interest

- (a) Upon disclosure of a conflict of interest or a challenge on that basis, any board member or nominee, or committee member shall resolve such conflict in a manner consistent with policies adopted by the BOD, or by any other manner approved by the BOD.
- (b) A director who fails to submit a written disclosure or is found to have an unresolved conflict of interest that may substantially impair his/her judgment in the duties of the position shall be removed from the position or nomination.
- (c) The president or other officer shall schedule a meeting of the BOD to be held within no more than ten (10) working days after notification of the conflict or potential conflict for all disinterested directors to determine a disposition of the conflict and any further action necessary.
- (d) Persons subject to conflict-of-interest review shall be kept fully informed by the president or officer of the board's decisions and any other relevant actions.

Disinterested Board Member

A "disinterested board member" is a board member who, at the time action is to be taken by ANIA and/or its BOD, does not have (i) a financial interest in a matter that is the subject of such action or other interest greater than other directors in such action, or (ii) a familial, financial, professional, employment, or other relationship with a person who has a financial interest in the matter, either of which would reasonably be expected to affect adversely the objectivity of the director when participating in the action.

Article XIII. Financial Activities

The board is responsible for the financial activities of the association.

Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of ANIA shall begin on the first day of January and end on the last day of December in each year.

Contracts

The BOD members may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of ANIA, in addition to the officers so authorized by these bylaws, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of ANIA, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Checks, Drafts, etc.

All checks, drafts, or orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of ANIA, shall be approved by authorized officers or agents of ANIA and in a manner as shall be determined by resolution of the BOD.

Deposits

All funds of ANIA shall be deposited to the credit of ANIA in the banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board members may select.

Gifts and Donations

The board members may accept on behalf of ANIA any contribution, gift, or bequest for the general or special purposes of ANIA.

Article XIV. Dues

Annual Dues

The BOD may determine the amount of the initiation fee if any, and annual dues payable to ANIA by members of each class.

Payment of Dues

Dues shall be payable by members prior to the first day of the month in which the membership will expire. The BOD may implement procedures to allow for quarterly or other pro-rating of dues, provided that each member is committed to paying the full amount of dues annually.

Article XV. Dissolution

Upon the dissolution of ANIA, ANIA's assets shall be distributed for one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of section 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code, or shall be distributed to the federal government, or to a state or local government, for a public purpose. Any assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by a Court of Competent Jurisdiction of the county in which the principal office of ANIA is then located, exclusively for such purposes or to such organization or organizations, as said court shall determine, which are organized and operated exclusively for such purposes. Should ANIA be holding any assets at time of dissolution from a 501(c)(3) corporation or any other organization that may be restricted in use, such assets shall be distributed in accordance with their restrictions.

Article XVI. Indemnification

Indemnification

Subject to the other provisions of this Article XVII, ANIA shall indemnify, as set forth below, and to the fullest extent to which it is empowered to do so by the Virginia Nonstock Corporation Act or any other applicable laws as may from time to time be in effect, any person who, by reason of being or having been a director, officer, employee, or agent of ANIA, or who is or was serving at the request of ANIA as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, and who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding.

Individual Indemnification

Except as provided in subsection 17.01, ANIA may indemnify an individual made a party to the proceeding because the individual is or was a director against liability incurred in the proceeding if the director:

- (a) Conducted himself or herself in good faith;
- (b) Conducted himself or herself in good faith;
- (c) Believed in the case of conduct in their official capacity with ANIA, that their conduct was in its best interests; and
- (d) In all other cases, that their conduct was at least not opposed to its best interests; and
- (e) In the case of any criminal proceeding that they had no reasonable cause to believe that their conduct was unlawful.
- (f) The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, or conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, is not, of itself, determinative that the director did not meet the relevant standard of conduct described in this section.
- (g) Unless ordered by a court under appropriate circumstances, the association may not indemnify a director under this section:
- (h) In connection with a proceeding by or in the right of ANIA, except for reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the proceeding if it is determined that the director has not met
- (i) In connection with any other proceeding charging improper personal benefit to the director, whether or not involving action in their official capacity, in which they were adjudged liable on the basis that the personal benefit was improperly received by

Article XVII. Nondiscrimination

ANIA recognizes the rights of all persons to equal opportunity in employment, compensation, promotion, education, positions of leadership and power, and in receipt of services. ANIA shall conduct its activities and shall offer its services to all persons equally, without discriminating against any employee, applicant for employment, director, officer, member, contractor, or any other person with whom it deals, because of race, creed, color, national origin, handicap, sex or age.

Article XVIII. Miscellaneous

Waiver of Notice

Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the applicable Virginia law governing nonstock corporations or under the provisions of the articles of incorporation or the bylaws of ANIA, a waiver in writing signed by the persons entitled to the notice, whether before or after the time stated there, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of notice.

Amendments to Bylaws

These bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed, and new bylaws may be adopted by 2/3rds of the board members present at any regular meeting or at any special meeting if at least thirty (30) days written notice is given of intention to alter, amend or repeal or to adopt new bylaws at the meeting;

Review of Bylaws

The BOD shall convene an ad hoc committee to review the bylaws within three years of the last revision. The secretary or designee shall maintain a record of all revisions to the bylaws, including effective dates.

Notice

Notice required to be given to a director or member shall be in writing. Notice by electronic transmission ("email") is written notice.

Written notice by ANIA to a member, if in a comprehensible form, is effective (i) upon deposit in the United States mail, if mailed postpaid and correctly addressed to the member's address shown in ANIA's current record of members, or (ii) when electronically transmitted (by email) to the member in a manner authorized by the member.

Without limiting how notice may be given effectively to members, any notice to members given by ANIA shall be effective if given by a form of electronic transmission (including email) consented to by the member to whom the notice is given. Any such consent shall be revocable by the member by written notice to ANIA. Any such consent shall be deemed revoked if (i) ANIA is unable to deliver by electronic transmission two consecutive notices given by ANIA in accordance with such consent and (ii) such inability becomes known to the secretary of ANIA or other person responsible for the giving of notice, provided, however, that the inadvertent failure to treat such inability as a revocation shall not invalidate any meeting or other action.

Notice given pursuant to this subsection shall be deemed given: (a) if by facsimile telecommunication when directed to a number at which the member has consented to receive notice; (b) if by electronic mail when directed to an electronic mail address at which the member has consented to receive notice; (c) if by a posting on an electronic network together with separate notice to the member of such specific posting when such notice is directed to the record address of the member or to such other address at which the member has consented to receive notice, upon the later of such posting or the giving of such separate notice; and (d) if by any other form of electronic transmission when consented to by the member.

In any instance where these bylaws authorize the sending of meeting notices, votes, or other communications by email or other electronic transmission, such communications must be sent in a way that creates a record that may be retained, retrieved, and reviewed by a recipient thereof, and that may be directly reproduced in paper form by such a recipient through an automated process.